Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/bmc



Amir H. Faraji, Peter Wipf*

Center for Chemical Methodologies & Library Development and Department of Chemistry, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA 15260, USA

ARTICLE INFO

ABSTRACT

Article history: Received 1 December 2008 Revised 17 February 2009 Accepted 20 February 2009 Available online 26 February 2009

Keywords: Nanomaterials Nanoparticles Drug delivery Targeted therapeutics

Contents

1.	Intro	duction	2951
2.	Nano	particle types	2952
	2.1.	Inorganic nanoparticles	. 2952
	2.2.	Polymeric nanoparticles	. 2952
	2.3.	Solid lipid nanoparticles	. 2952
	2.4.	Liposomes	. 2953
	2.5.	Nanocrystals	. 2953
	2.6.	Nanotubes	. 2953
	2.7.	Dendrimers	. 2953
3.	Nano	particle synthesis and conjugation methodologies	2953
	3.1.	Gold nanoparticles	. 2953
	3.2.	Carbon nanotubes	. 2954
	3.3.	Layered double hydroxide nanoparticles	. 2954
	3.4.	Iron oxide nanoparticles	. 2954
	3.5.	Calcium phosphate nanoparticles	. 2954
	3.6.	Silica nanoparticles	. 2954
	3.7.	Fullerenes	. 2954
	3.8.	Quantum dots	. 2955
4.	Nano	particle pharmacokinetics	2955
	4.1.	Distribution	. 2955
	4.2.	Clearance/excretion	. 2955
	4.3.	Toxicity	. 2956
5.	Mech	nanisms of cellular targeting	2957
	5.1.	Nanoparticle uptake by tissues	. 2957
	5.2.	Cellular phagocytosis/endocytosis	. 2957

* Corresponding author. Tel.: +1 412 624 8606; fax: +1 412 624 0787. *E-mail address:* pwipf@pitt.edu (P. Wipf).





This review highlights the properties of nanoparticles used in targeted drug delivery, including delivery to cells as well as organelle targets, some of the known pharmacokinetic properties of nanoparticles, and their typical modifications to allow for therapeutic delivery. Nanoparticles exploit biological pathways to achieve payload delivery to cellular and intracellular targets, including transport past the blood-brain barrier. As illustrative examples of their utility, the evaluation of targeted nanoparticles in the treatment of cancers and diseases of the central nervous system, such as glioblastoma multiforme, neurovascular disorders, and neurodegenerative diseases, is discussed.

© 2009 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

6.	Nanoparticle drug delivery for human therapeutics	2958
7.	6.1. Neurological cancers (glioblastoma multiforme)	2958
	6.2. Neurovascular diseases (vascular targeting and stroke)	2958
	6.3. Neurodegenerative diseases (Alzheimer's disease and chelation)	2959
	Conclusions.	2960
	Acknowledgments	2960
	References and notes	2960

1. Introduction

Nanotechnology is a rapidly expanding field, encompassing the development of man-made materials in the 5–200 nanometer size range. This dimension vastly exceeds that of standard organic molecules, but its lower range approaches that of many proteins and biological macromolecules (Fig. 1).

The first practical applications of nanotechnology can be traced to advances in communications, engineering, physics, chemistry, biology, robotics, and medicine. Nanotechnology has been utilized in medicine for therapeutic drug delivery and the development of treatments for a variety of diseases and disorders. The rise of nanomaterials correlates with further advances in these disciplines.

Nanoparticles appeal to scientists across many disciplines due the opportunity to engineer many properties that might otherwise be incompatible on a single device. Relevant attachments include biologically active molecules, targeting sequences, fluorescent or other imaging devices, biocompatible coatings, and others. Furthermore, the engineering of the particle backbone structure and the size and shape of the nanoparticle core provides yet another dimension of physical control that can be exerted toward the specific tailoring of function. This review focuses on applications in the cellular and intracellular delivery of therapeutic agents. We explore various types of nanoparticles (Fig. 2), ranging from ceramics to liposomes, as well as current methodologies to develop inorganic nanoparticles. A brief discussion of the pharmacokinetic parameters and specific targeting strategies of these nanoparticles follows, presenting suggestions for the mechanisms of cellular and intracellular uptake. Because of the remarkable drug delivery challenges in the central nervous system's blood-brain barrier, illustrative examples of nanoparticles in the treatment of neurological cancer, neurovascular disorders, and neurodegenerative diseases are provided.

Medical therapies have become more tailored to specific diseases and patients in recent years. Most pharmaceutical agents have primary targets within cells and tissues; ideally, these agents may be preferentially delivered to these sites of action within the cell. Selective subcellular delivery is likely to have greater therapeutic benefits. Cytosolic delivery, for instance, is desirable for drugs that undergo extensive exportation from the cell via efflux transporters such as multi-drug resistance proteins and P-glycoproteins.¹ These efflux mechanisms continuously reduce therapeutic intracellular drug concentrations. An intracellular nanoparticle, consequently, may act as a drug depot within the cell. Nanotechnology may be used to achieve therapeutic dosing via targeted



Figure 1. Sizes of organic molecules and biological macromolecules (left) in relation to silica nanoparticles (right).



Figure 2. Various types of nanoparticles used in biomedical research and drug delivery.

therapies, establish sustained-release drug profiles, and provide an intracellular sanctuary to protect therapeutic compounds from efflux or degradation.

2. Nanoparticle types

2.1. Inorganic nanoparticles

Ceramic nanoparticles are typically composed of inorganic compounds such as silica or alumina. However, the nanoparticle core is not limited to just these two materials; rather, metals,^{2–4} metal oxides,^{5–12} and metal sulfides^{13–15} can be used to produce a myriad of nanostructures with varying size, shape, and porosity.

Generally, inorganic nanoparticles may be engineered to evade the reticuloendothelial system by varying size and surface composition. Moreover, they may be porous, and provide a physical encasement to protect an entrapped molecular payload from degradation or denaturization. Hollow silica nanoparticles have been prepared, such as calcium phosphate-based nanoshells, with surface pores leading to a central reservoir.^{16,17} In contrast, mesoporous silica materials contain a complex 'worm-like' network of channels throughout the interior of the solid nanoparticles.

Mobil first discovered the mesoporous silica-based nanomaterial MCM-41 in 1992.¹⁸ Since that time, there has been a great interest in their surface functionalization and morphology control. For example, Vallet-Regi et al. studied the viability of this material as a drug delivery system.¹⁹ By using C₁₂-trimethylammonium bromide versus C16-trimethylammonium bromide in the self-assembly of these nanoparticles, the distribution of pore sizes-a parameter that determines the release kinetics of the drug payload as studied by Botterhuis et al.²⁰—was tuned from a center at 1.8 nm to 2.5 nm. As a further extension of this work, ibuprofen was introduced into the pores of these nanomaterials at a drug-to-MCM-41 weight ratio of approximately 3:7, as determined by thermogravimetry. These loaded MCM-41 particles were then subjected to a simulated body fluid and determined to be potentially viable drug delivery systems.¹⁹ This work demonstrated that mesoporous silica materials could be used to deliver relatively large doses of drug in a controlled manner.

The drug delivery characteristics of mesoporous materials have also been modified via reversible capping of the surface pores. Utilizing the MCM-41 scaffold, Lai et al. developed chemically removable cadmium sulfide (CdS) nanoparticle caps for use as a stimuliresponsive releasing agent for neurotransmitters and drugs.²¹ Silica MCM-41 nanoparticles were modified using 2-(propyldisulfanyl)ethylamine and capped with water-soluble mercaptoacetic acid-derivatized CdS nanocrystals via an amidation reaction. The disulfide linkages were shown to be labile and chemically cleavable by disulfide reducing agents. The release rate from mesoporous silica materials was dependent on the rate of CdS cap removal. Analogous methods for controlling the release of drug payloads from silica nanomaterials have been employed by the same group using dendrimer and magnetic caps.^{22,23} It is relatively easy to modify the surfaces of these particles with unique functionalities via a variety of chemical transformations. As the CdS example illustrated with modifications of 2-(propyldisulfanyl)ethylamine, several functional groups can be introduced onto the surface of inorganic nanoparticles, ranging from saturated and unsaturated hydrocarbons to carboxylic acids, thiols, amines, and alcohols. Inorganic nanoparticles are relatively stable over broad ranges of temperature and pH, yet their lack of biodegradation and slow dissolution raises safety questions, especially for longterm administration.

2.2. Polymeric nanoparticles

Most polymeric nanoparticles are biodegradable and biocompatible, and have been adopted as a preferred method for nanomaterial drug delivery. They also exhibit a good potential for surface modification via chemical transformations, provide excellent pharmacokinetic control, and are suitable for the entrapment and delivery of a wide range of therapeutic agents. Pertinent nanoparticle formulations include those made from gelatins, chitosan, poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) copolymer, polylactic acid, polyglycolic acid, poly(alkylcyanoacrylate), poly(methylmethacrylate), and poly(butyl)cyanoacrylate. Furthermore, polymer-based coatings may be functionalized onto other types of nanoparticles to change and improve their biodistribution properties. The biologically inert polymer poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG) has been covalently linked onto the surface of nanoparticles.^{24–26} This polymeric coating is thought to reduce immunogenicity, and limit the phagocytosis of nanoparticles by the reticuloendothelial system, resulting in increased blood levels of drug in organs such as the brain, intestines, and kidnevs.^{27,28}

The US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) has approved biodegradable polymeric nanoparticles, such as PLA and PLGA, for human use. They may be formulated to encapsulate several classes of therapeutic agents including, but not limited to, low molecular weight compounds.²⁹ Moreover, polymeric nanoparticles have been applied in gene therapy to breast cancer cells, resulting in antiproliferative effects.³⁰ The polymer matrix prevents drug degradation and may also provide management of drug release from these nanoparticles. Varying the drug-to-polymer ratio and molecular weight and composition of the polymer can modify the extent and level of drug release.³¹ The surface properties of these polymeric nanoparticles are also a vital component of their targeting characteristics. Since nanoparticles come into direct contact with cellular membranes, their surface properties may determine the mechanism of internalization and intracellular localization.³²

The general biocompatibility and biodegradation profiles of polymeric nanoparticles are attractive; this is especially true with formulations that require more chronic dosing, perhaps in contrast to many inorganic nanoparticles. Practically, large-scale production and manufacturing remains an issue with polymeric nanoparticles. For instance, PLGA nanoparticles are mostly formulated using a double emulsion solvent evaporation system, utilizing water and oil with poly(vinyl alcohol) (PVA) as an emulsifier.^{31,32}

2.3. Solid lipid nanoparticles

Solid lipid nanoparticles are lipid-based submicron colloidal carriers. They were initially designed in the early 1990s as a pharmaceutical alternative to liposomes and emulsions. In general, they are more stable than liposomes in biological systems due to their relatively rigid core consisting of hydrophobic lipids that are solid at room and body temperatures, surrounded by a monolayer of phospholipids.^{33–35} These aggregates are further stabilized by the inclusion of high levels of surfactants. Because of their ease of biodegradation, they are less toxic than polymer or ceramic nanoparticles. They have controllable pharmacokinetic parameters and can be engineered with three types of hydrophobic core designs: a homogenous matrix, a drug-enriched shell, or a drug-enriched core.

Two primary production methods exist, including a high-pressure homogenization technique devised by Müller and Lucks³⁶ and a microemulsion technique pioneered by Gasco.³⁷ It has been demonstrated that the compound payload exits the hydrophobic core at warmer temperatures; conversely, the compound payload enters the hydrophobic core at cooler temperatures.³⁸ These principles are used to load and unload solid lipid nanoparticles for the delivery of therapeutic agents, taking advantage of recent techniques to selectively produce hypo- and hyperthermia. Additionally, the amount of surfactant used during production contributes to the release profile of the drug payload. Solid lipid nanoparticles can be used to deliver drugs orally, topically, or via inhalation.

2.4. Liposomes

Liposomes are concentric bilayered vesicles with an surrounded by a phospholipid membrane. They are related to micelles which are generally composed of a monolayer of lipids. The amphiphilic nature of liposomes, their ease of surface modification, and a good biocompatibility profile make them an appealing solution for increasing the circulating half-life of proteins and peptides. They may contain hydrophilic compounds, which remain encapsulated in the aqueous interior, or hydrophobic compounds, which may escape encapsulation through diffusion out of the phospholipid membrane. Liposomes can be designed to adhere to cellular membranes to deliver a drug payload or simply transfer drugs following endocytosis.^{39–42}

Despite a relatively long history of investigation, liposomes have not yet made a significant medical impact; however, they have been extensively employed in cosmetic products. The first formulation was prepared in 1986 by the Christian Dior laboratories in collaboration with the Pasteur Institute.⁴² Presumably, the lack of widespread medical impact is due to their limited biological stability. Longer liposome circulatory residency times have been demonstrated upon functionalization with PEG. These longer residency times may allow for a better control of therapeutic drug delivery.

2.5. Nanocrystals

Nanocrystals are aggregates of molecules that can be combined into a crystalline form of the drug surrounded by a thin coating of surfactant. They have extensive uses in materials research, chemical engineering, and as quantum dots for biological imaging,^{43–46} but less so in nanomedicine for drug delivery.

A nanocrystalline species may be prepared from a hydrophobic compound and coated with a thin hydrophilic layer. The biological reaction to nanocrystals depends strongly on the chemical nature of this hydrophilic coating. The hydrophilic layer aids in the biological distribution and bioavailability, and prevents aggregation of the crystalline drug material. These factors combine to increase the efficiency of overall drug delivery.^{47,48} High dosages can be achieved with this formulation, and poorly soluble drugs can be formulated to increase bioavailability via treatment with an appropriate coating layer. Both oral and parenteral deliveries are possible, and the limited carrier, consisting of primarily the thin

coating of surfactant, may reduce potential toxicity.⁴⁹ A drawback, however, is that the stability of nanocrystals is limited. Moreover, this technique requires crystallization; some therapeutic compounds may not be easily crystallized.

2.6. Nanotubes

Nanotubes are self-assembling sheets of atoms arranged in tubes. They may be organic or inorganic in composition and can be produced as single- or multi-walled structures. A popular version of a nanotube involves the use of soluble fullerene derivatives, such as C_{60} . Nanotubes have large internal volumes and the external surface can be easily functionalized. While they are potentially promising for pharmaceutical applications, human tolerance of these compounds remains unknown, and toxicity reports are conflicting. It has been demonstrated that nanotubes are acutely toxic and may cause cellular death via an oxidative-stress pathway.^{50–52} Extensive research into the biocompatibility and toxicity of nanotubes remains ongoing.

2.7. Dendrimers

Dendrimers are polymer-based macromolecules formed from monomeric or oligomeric units, such that each laver of branching units doubles or triples the number of peripheral groups. The void area within a dendrimer, the extent of its branching, its ease of modification and preparation, and size control offer great potential for drug delivery. Dendrimers generally have a symmetrical structure, with the potential to create an isolated 'active site' core area through chemical functionalization. Modification of the degree of branching may allow for encapsulation of a molecule within this structure.⁵³ For example, a dendrimer may become water-soluble when its end-groups are functionalized with hydrophilic groups, such as carboxylic acids. Thus, water-soluble dendrimers may be designed with internal hydrophobicity, suitable for the incorporation of a hydrophobic drug. The frequently used genetic transfection agent Polyfect consists of dendrimer molecules radiating from a central core. Amino groups at the terminal ends of the dendrimer branches are positively-charged at physiological pH, therefore interacting with the negatively-charged phosphate groups of nucleic acids.⁵⁴ However, dendrimers require further improvements in cytotoxicity profiles, biocompatibility, and biodistribution.

3. Nanoparticle synthesis and conjugation methodologies

3.1. Gold nanoparticles

The preparation of gold nanoparticles commonly involves the chemical reduction of gold salts in aqueous, organic, or mixed solvent systems. However, the gold surface is extremely reactive, and under these conditions aggregation occurs. To circumvent this issue, gold nanoparticles are regularly reduced in the presence of a stabilizer, which binds to the surface and precludes aggregation via favorable cross-linking and charge properties. Several stabilizers exist for passivation of the gold nanoparticle surface, including citrate,⁵⁵ thiol-containing organic groups,⁵⁶ encapsulation within microemulsions,⁵⁷ and polymeric coatings.⁵⁸ In particular, gold nanoparticles may be encrusted with biomolecules, with exciting prospects in biological sensing and imaging. Several synthetic strategies exist, such as the two phase liquid-liquid method initially described to create metal colloidal suspensions by Faraday in 1857.⁵⁹ Faraday reduced an aqueous gold salt with phosphorous in carbon disulfide to obtain a ruby-colored aqueous suspension of colloidal gold particles. The Brust-Schiffrin method further optimized this two phase liquid–liquid system with gold salts being transferred from water to toluene using tetraoctylammonium bromide as the phase transfer reagent, with reduction by aqueous sodium borohydride in the presence of dodecanethiol.⁶⁰ Using modifications of this method, gold nanoparticles have been synthesized with numerous biomolecular coatings.^{61,62} The resulting gold nanoparticles have biological applications; for instance in the detection of polynucleotides via hybridization to oligonucleotides appended on the nanoparticle surface.⁶³

3.2. Carbon nanotubes

Carbon nanotubes were initially discovered in 1991 in cathode deposits following arc evaporation of graphite.⁶⁴ Shortly after this seminal report, carbon nanotubes were isolated after pyrolysis of hydrocarbons such as ethylene or acetylene over nanoparticles of iron, cobalt, or other dispersed metals.^{65–67} The presence of these materials greatly influences the size profile of the developing nanotubes.⁶⁸ Sen et al. prepared multi-walled carbon nanotubes (MWNT) by pyrolysis of metallocenes such as ferrocene, cobaltocene, and nickelocene under reducing conditions; the metallocene precursor acts as a source for both metal nanoparticles and carbon.⁶⁹ Single-walled carbon nanotubes (SWNT) were prepared in a related approach using dilute hydrocarbon-organometallic mixtures.^{70,71} Interestingly, pyrolysis of nickelocene in the presence of benzene at 1100 °C yields primarily MWNT. In contrast, pyrolysis of nickelocene in the presence of acetylene yields primarily SWNT, presumably due to the smaller number of carbon atoms per molecule.72

3.3. Layered double hydroxide nanoparticles

Layered double hydroxide nanoparticles are a comparatively new focus of study for drug delivery, gene therapy, and controlled-release agents. This interest is spurred by their low cytotoxicity and high biocompatibility.^{73,74} Traditional synthetic strategies exploit coprecipitation of mixed salts in hydroxide solutions at variable or invariable pH followed by curing at an elevated temperature.75-77 Unfortunately, these techniques frequently result in aggregated particles. Several modifications exist to tune the size and aggregation properties. The utilization of separate nucleation and curing techniques by Zhao et al. provides colloidal suspensions of layered double hydroxide nanoparticles with sizes ranging from 1 to 10 μ m.⁷⁸ These sizes are quite large and may be biologically irrelevant for drug delivery. Modulating the size profile of these nanoparticles to obtain smaller drug delivery carriers necessitates a precise control of the hydrothermal treatment stage. Recent work by Xu et al. has demonstrated the synthesis of monodisperse nanoparticles with sizes ranging from 40 to 300 nm, thus approaching the range of biological compatibility.79

3.4. Iron oxide nanoparticles

Several synthetic strategies exist to prepare ferromagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles. In particular, a water-in-oil microemulsion system with reverse micelles has been utilized extensively.^{80–82} For maghemite (γ -Fe₂O₃) and magnetite (Fe₃O₄) nanoparticles, this precipitation technique requires alkalization of a solution of metal salt with subsequent hydrolysis in microemulsions. Additionally, biosynthetic routes exist utilizing magnetic bacteria; the resulting nanoparticles typically range from 50 to 100 nm in diameter.^{83–85} The synthesis of iron oxide nanoparticles has also been realized by sonochemical decomposition of iron pentacarbonyl,^{86,87} thermal decomposition of other iron complexes,^{88,89} and by thermal decomposition of iron pentacarbonyl followed by oxidation.⁹⁰ When optimized, these methods may afford monodisperse nanoparticles with sizes ranging from 3 to 20 nm for magnetite and 4 to 16 nm for maghemite.^{89,90} Furthermore, iron oxide nanoparticles also display fairly easy surface modification capabilities. Iida et al. functionalized the surface of commercially-available 3 nm maghemite nanoparticles using 3-aminopropyltriethoxysilane.^{91a} This presents an attractive prospect for direct drug or biomolecule payload attachment. Recently, ultrasmall, peptide-coated magnetite nanoparticles were used to target integrin-rich tumor cells.^{91b}

3.5. Calcium phosphate nanoparticles

Calcium phosphates, also known as hydroxyapatite, represent the majority of the inorganic matter of human hard tissue such as bone and teeth. Accordingly, calcium phosphate nanoparticles display excellent biocompatibility.^{92,93} These nanoparticles may be synthesized by a myriad of methods including wet chemical routes.⁹⁴ solid-state reactions and hydrothermal reactions at elevated temperature,⁹⁵ biosynthetic routes,⁹⁶ and microemulsions.⁹⁷ Among the various approaches, microemulsion is most appealing due to its flexibility and expediency; monodisperse nanoparticles with defined morphologies and sizes may be produced. Moreover, limited aggregation may also be achieved. At a molecular level, surfactant molecules form solvent cages that control nucleation and subsequent growth, thus stabilizing water-in-oil microemulsion solutions.⁹⁸ The efficiency of these syntheses depends on several parameters, including calcium and phosphate ion concentrations, pH, ionic strength, temperature, and surfactant concentration and type.⁹⁹⁻¹⁰¹

3.6. Silica nanoparticles

Silica nanoparticles may be prepared by sol-gel methods similar to those described previously. In particular, work by Stöeber et al. elucidated an efficient co-condensation process to afford monodisperse silica nanoparticles;¹⁰² this work was later expanded through studies to covalently modify the silica surface and incorporate functional groups, including 3-aminopropylethoxvsilane. N-(2-aminoethyl)-3-aminopropyltrimethoxysilane. 3-[2-(2-amino-ethylamino)ethylamino]propyltrimethoxysilane ureidopropyltrimethoxysilane, 3-isocyanato-propyltriethoxysilane, 3cyanopropyltriethoxysilane, and allyltrimethoxysilane.¹⁰³⁻¹⁰⁵ Additionally, microemulsion-based methods have been described to prepare silica nanoparticles, such as the organic-aqueous biphasic system described by the Tan group.¹⁰⁶ Solvent cages formed within the microemulsion direct the size and aggregation properties of the growing silica nanoparticles. As described previously, MCM-41 is a mesoporous silica nanoparticle. These nanoparticles are typically synthesized via similar sol-gel processes in the presence of a surfactant such as C12-trimethylammonium bromide versus C₁₆-trimethylammonium bromide, to control pore sizes.¹⁹ The relative ease of synthesis and functionalization make silica nanoparticles attractive targets for drug delivery; however the lack of information on their biodegradation remains a noteworthy limitation.

3.7. Fullerenes

Fullerenes are similar to carbon nanotubes in that their molecular framework is entirely composed of an extensive π -conjugated carbon skeleton. They are typically synthesized by poorly understood empirical methods; for instance, the vaporization of graphite by resistive heating yields grunge from which fullerenes can be isolated chromatographically.^{107,108} Similarly, fullerenes can be synthesized in greater efficiencies after the combustion of simple hydrocarbons in fuel-rich flames.^{109,110} These basic techniques provide abundant access to fullerenes; however, more elaborate

synthetic strategies are required for customized fullerene systems. The chemistry of geodesic polyarenes was investigated by the Scott group to prepare fullerene components, which were ultimately united via UV laser irradiation to yield C_{60} .^{111,112} Four advances made this synthesis feasible: curvature was provisionally induced in polyarenes via flash-vacuum pyrolysis, radical-initiated C(aryl)–C(aryl) coupling reactions were designed to interdict the distorted conformations, facile 1,2-hydrogen shifts were exploited to limit challenging synthetic transformations, and cyclodehydrogenation cascades stitched the developing π -system together once curvature was induced.¹¹³ Significant synthetic challenges remain, with future goals involving the preparation of higher order fullerenes, ¹³C-labeled fullerenes, heterofullerenes, and azafullerenes.

3.8. Quantum dots

Quantum dots are luminescent nanoparticles typically used for imaging in biological systems. Their primary components—core, shell, and coating—have characteristics which each modify the photochemical properties. Quantum dots can be manufactured with diameters from a few nanometers to micrometers and a narrow size distribution using techniques requiring high annealing temperatures.¹¹⁴ Bare core nanoparticles are labile as a result of their large surface area-to-volume ratio; they may also display emission irregularities resulting from surface imperfections.¹¹⁴ Capping of quantum dots with ZnS has been shown to augment stability and enhance luminescence with superior quantum yields at room temperature.^{115,116} However, ZnS capping alone is not sufficient to fully stabilize the core, especially in biological systems. PEGylation plays a dual role in increasing biocompatibility and improving the core stability in biological systems.¹¹⁷

4. Nanoparticle pharmacokinetics

4.1. Distribution

The natural clearance and excretion mechanisms of the human body provide a framework for the rational design of effective nanoparticles for use in medical therapies. Once a pharmaceutical agent is introduced into the circulatory system, for example by intravenous administration, it is distributed systemically via the vascular and lymphatic systems. The distribution of a drug in a tissue is correlated with the relative amount of cardiac output passing through that tissue. Accordingly, tissues and organs with high blood flow (brain, liver, heart, intestines, lungs, kidneys, spleen, etc.) may be exposed to higher concentrations of a drug, providing that the drug is able to penetrate into the particular tissue from the vasculature. A physiological parameter (cardiac output) can therefore act as a filter to nanomaterial distribution.

Another passive targeting mechanism involves altering the size of the nanoparticle carrier, which also alters the biological distribution profile. Very small nanomaterials, on the order of 1–20 nm, have long circulatory residence times and slower extravasation from the vasculature into interstitial spaces.¹¹⁸ This may cause slower attainment of the maximal volume of distribution, or even an altered volume of distribution when administered intravenously. Local injections require an engineering of nanoparticles of slightly larger sizes, on the order of 30–100 nm. The latter size range is sufficient to avoid leakage into capillaries, but also small enough to avoid reticuloendothelial clearance (Fig. 3).^{119,120} Moreover, surface manipulation can control the extent of localization at interstitial sites and limit clearance.

As nanomaterials are 'stealthed' via hydrophilic PEGylation, their circulatory residence times increase.^{121,122} Thus, nanomaterials can become circulating depots of drug. The distribution proper-



Figure 3. Very small nanoparticles, on the order of 1–20 nm, have long circulatory residence times with slow extravasation from the vasculature. Nanoparticles that are between 30 and 100 nm in diameter are small enough to avoid reticuloendo-thelial and phagocytic clearance, in contrast to larger nanoparticles, which are efficiently cleared.

ties of the drug ultimately depend on the kinetics of payload movement from the nanoparticle carrier; fast loss of the drug payload before the nanoparticle reaches its target may result in decreased drug efficacy. In a sphere, the ratio of the surface area to the volume ratio is inversely proportional to the radius.¹²³ As internally-loaded nanoparticles become smaller, a greater proportion of the drug payload will be located on the surface and have access to the exterior aqueous phase. This may lead to significant alterations in the pharmacokinetic parameters displayed by nanoparticles of various sizes and loading strategies.

Endothelial damage or alteration may modify the distribution parameters of nanoparticles. Inflammation, solid tumors, and deliberate disruption of endothelia contribute to an increased leakiness that provides vascular contents greater access to extravascular targets. Tumor growth triggers rapid angiogenesis, which results in extensive vascular networks with highly-fenestrated and 'leaky' endothelial cells; smooth muscle may incompletely surround these vessels, or may be absent.¹²⁴ Moreover, the bloodbrain barrier may be weakened by solid tumors such as glioblastoma multiforme, thus providing better distribution of therapeutic agents to the CNS and tumor. Nanoparticles greater than approximately 100–150 nm in diameter will tend to accumulate in tumors due to their poor extravasation from normal vasculature.¹²³ The presence of disturbed, porous vascular beds at the tumor allows for selective targeting by this passive mechanism.

While passive targeting relies on a specific physiological parameter to act as a distributive filter, several examples of active targeting are known. The surface of nanomaterials can be ligated to a biological marker, such as an RGD peptide, an antibody, or an aptamer (Fig. 4).91b,125-127 Nanomaterials present an unique opportunity to deliver pharmaceutical agents to tissues of interest. A firm understanding of specific cell markers, ligands, linkers, and the corresponding molecular biology is required for the future development of active targeting mechanisms. The nanostructure may be designed to encapsulate, or otherwise mask, the properties of the therapeutic agent. The delivery of the drug to a tissue whereby penetration and distribution may not otherwise occur is possible with these 'Trojan Horse' strategies. They have been utilized in a variety of medical settings, ranging from transport across the blood-brain barrier, targeting of drugs to tumor cells, and localization in vascular tissues.

4.2. Clearance/excretion

Whereas larger particles tend to remain localized, smaller particles are better able to clear from a placement site. For example,



Figure 4. Active targeting of a doxorubicin payload within liposomes to the vascular endothelium using murine monoclonal antibodies to E-selectin, as reported by Spragg et al.¹²⁶

60 µm polymeric microparticles composed of a slowly degrading polymer were locally injected at the sciatic nerve. Eight weeks later, the same microparticles were discovered in quantity at this injection site.¹²⁸ Similarly, microparticles (5, 25, 60, and 250 µm) injected into the peritoneum of mice remained there for at least two weeks. In contrast, nanoparticles of the same material showed almost complete clearance from the peritoneum in the same time frame.¹²⁹ Moreover, the spleens of mice treated with nanoparticles were enlarged and exhibited numerous foamy macrophages, presumably resulting from accumulation of a large amount of polymeric material. This finding obviates the role of the reticuloendothelial system in removing foreign objects-including nanomaterials-from the biological milieu. As part of the general immune response, monocytes and macrophages readily absorb circulating nanomaterials and then accumulate in lymph nodes and spleen for further processing.

Nanoparticles must therefore evade the reticuloendothelial system to be effective drug delivery agents. Many strategies for covert delivery may be implemented. As previously mentioned, PEGylation represents one approach to stealth nanomaterials. Hydrophobic nanoparticles such as unmodified liposomes are rapidly cleared via the reticuloendothelial system. The circulation times of these particles can be greatly increased simply by hydrophilic surface modification with PEG.¹²²

Following systemic administration, the body normally distributes nutrients, clears waste, and distributes drugs via the vascular and lymphatic systems. Intravenously injected particles are scavenged and cleared from circulation by the reticuloendothelial system in a process that is facilitated by surface deposition of opsonic factors and complement proteins on the nanoparticles themselves.^{130–132} Both clearance and opsonization are influenced by the size and surface characteristics of injected nanoparticles. Particles greater than 200 nm in diameter activate the complement system more efficiently and are cleared more rapidly than very small nanoparticles. This may be a result of the geometry, charge, and functional groups on the surface of these particles that mediate binding to proteins and blood opsonins.^{133,134}

4.3. Toxicity

Many aspects of nanoparticle architecture and composition influence systemic toxicity. Care must be taken regarding the relative size difference between nanoparticles and the vasculature diameter. Particles >5 μ m in diameter may embolize these vessels. Moreover, <100 nm particles have a high likelihood of aggregating; thus forming a cluster that can embolize and occlude blood flow.

This property has been used to intentionally occlude the vasculature of tumors in the clinical setting, such as with the transarterial chemoembolization of hepatocellular carcinoma and other metastatic neuroendocrine tumors of the gastrointestinal tract. Alternatively, undesired consequences may also result, including lodging of these aggregates in various organs. For example, intravenous administration of nanoparticles prone to aggregation can result in a pulmonary embolism, strokes, myocardial infarctions, and other microinfarctions at distant sites and organs. Particles up to $4-5 \,\mu\text{m}$ in size could be injected directly into the carotid arteries of mice without producing detectable problems, with a caveat that very large quantities were not tested.¹³⁵ Thus, nanoparticle administration should result in no adverse embolic phenomena, providing the nanoparticles do not aggregate.

While the systemic toxicity profile of nanomaterials remains generally uncharacterized, a large body of information reports pulmonary and cardiovascular toxicities. There are striking parallels between nanomaterials and 'ultra-fine particles' in atmospheric pollution (nanoparticles traditionally defined as particles with diameters <100 nm, produced incidentally from industrial, combustion, welding, automobile, soil, diesel, and volcanic activities).¹³⁶ It has long been known that the lungs and cardiovascular system are particularly susceptible to inflammation and other pathologies following inhalation of these ultra-fine substances. For instance, silica-based particles have been shown to be promoters of inflammation and free radical damage with chronic exposure and in high doses; this phenomenon correlates with devastating pulmonary silicoses.

Epidemiological studies amongst six polluted and less-polluted American cities found a convincing association of ambient particulate air pollution as a predictor of mortality and morbidity in adults.^{137–140} These studies concluded that exposure to ambient air pollution was associated with an increase in blood pressure and decrease heart rate variability. Furthermore, elevated levels of air pollution are associated with an increased incidence of asthma, life-threatening arrhythmias, and myocardial infarctions. While epidemiological studies do not necessarily define causality, they show a striking correlation with pollutant nanoparticles and adverse health outcomes.

Several mechanisms have been proposed to explain the correlations between nanoparticle inhalation and cardiopulmonary morbidity and mortality. First, neurons may be directly stimulated by nanoparticles, triggering alterations in the central nervous system and cardiovascular autonomic function. Additionally, the potential for neuronal uptake and translocation of inhaled nanoparticles to the brain has been reported in several studies. Roughly 40 years ago, De Lorenzo demonstrated in squirrel monkeys that intranasally administered colloidal gold nanoparticles (~50 nm) translocated anterogradely in the axons of the olfactory nerves to the olfactory bulbs.¹⁴¹ Using electron microscopy, the movements of these 50 nm gold nanoparticles were observed traversing synapses to the olfactory glomerulus within 1 h of intranasal administration, with a calculated neuronal transport velocity of 2.5 mm/h. Interestingly, and perhaps related to potential toxicities, it was found that nanoparticles in the olfactory bulb were not freely distributed in the cytoplasm; instead, they were preferentially located in mitochondria.^{142a} A study of ¹³C-labeled nanoparticles (~36 nm) in rats confirmed these findings, demonstrating translocation via the nasal mucosa into the olfactory bulb.142b This pathway appears to circumvent the blood-brain barrier and may be exploited as a delivery alternative for drugs and nanoparticles that are otherwise unable to breach the blood-brain barrier. The precise details of this pathway are not currently known, including whether receptormediated endocytosis, pinocytosis, or axonal transport along cytoskeletal elements are involved. Moreover, it is not apparent whether these particles cause injury or toxicity to the brain, or even if analogous pathways exist in other peripheral neurons. It is likely that inflammation of the olfactory mucosa, olfactory bulb, and cortical and subcortial regions of the brain may result. Consistent with the neuronal translocation mechanism, this inflammation was observed in dogs from a heavily-polluted area of Mexico City, but not in dogs from less-polluted areas.¹⁴³

As described above, nanoparticles may trigger an inflammatory process resulting in the release of cytokines and chemokines, such as IL-6, (IL)-1 β , TNF- α , reactive oxygen species, C-reactive protein, and transcription factors.^{144,145} This cascade results in the activation of mitogen-activating protein kinase (MAPK), redox sensitive transcription factors, nuclear factor kappa B (NF-kB), and activating protein-1 (AP-1). By analogy, the etiology of atherosclerosis and coronary heart disease is thought to be inflammatory, as patients display similar pro-inflammatory markers.¹⁴⁶ These inflammatory mechanisms can lead to cardiopulmonary events. Studies using genetically susceptible mice exposed to long-term nanoparticle air pollution showed an acceleration of atherosclerosis and vascular inflammation.¹⁴⁷ We may be able to infer that these nanoparticles may promote, if not trigger, low-level systemic inflammation at distant organs and tissues, depending on nanoparticle access to the vasculature via penetration of small blood vessels and capillaries.

One mechanism whereby nanoparticles trigger inflammation involves the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS). This is believed to be due to the greater surface area of nanoparticles, thus permitting more interactions with the biological environment and cellular components, and the myriad of transition metals often associated with the preparation of these materials. For instance, interactions between polystyrene nanoparticles and associated transition metals were reported to have a synergistic effect in ROS generation and subsequent inflammation.¹⁴⁸ In an associated study of four types of nanoparticles (carbon black, cobalt, nickel, and titanium dioxide), comparable free radical generation was also observed.¹⁴⁹ Through these studies, some types of nanoparticles were shown to be potent inducers of oxidative stress in macrophages by activating heme oxygenase-1 and depleting intracellular glutathione. Many transition metals promote free radical formation via Fenton-like chemical pathways. Additionally, mice exposed via inhalation to single-wall carbon nanotubes exhibited noteworthy pulmonary pathologic changes at small and high doses. Granulomatous lesions with persistent inflammation were seen within 90 days at doses of 3.3–16.6 mg/kg of body weight.¹⁵⁰ At doses of 10-40 g/mouse of single-wall carbon nanotubes with minimal impurities, mice displayed a vigorous inflammatory response with the onset of pulmonary fibrosis, decreased pulmonary function, and reduced bacterial clearance.¹⁵¹ The generalizability of these pulmonary and cardiovascular toxicities to other systems remains unknown.

5. Mechanisms of cellular targeting

5.1. Nanoparticle uptake by tissues

A succession of several membrane layers provides an obstacle for therapeutic agents attempting to target intracellular structures. During this process, compound is lost due to ineffective partitioning across biological membranes. The extent of partition across a membrane is related directly to the polarity of a molecule; nonpolar or lipophilic molecules easily bypass this obstacle with greater membrane penetration, generally via diffusion. However, the situation is much more complicated, as a myriad of other cellular processes directly effect the intracellular concentrations and effectiveness of the therapeutic agent. Variable efficiencies of endocytosis mechanisms, intracellular trafficking, release of the therapeutic agent into the cytoplasm, diffusion and translocation of the therapeutic agent to its susceptible target, and partition into the nucleus or other organelles alter the actual activity of the therapeutic agent (Fig. 5). Nanoparticles present an interesting opportunity for eliminating much of this 'waste' due to masking of the therapeutic agent from its biological environment; this effectively limits the influence of a compound's physical properties on intracellular drug concentrations. Instead, the properties and surface characteristics of the nanoparticle play a greater role in compound delivery and resulting intracellular drug concentrations.

Nanoparticles may be ingested and 'sampled' by curious cells. Endocytosis encompasses the process of membrane manipulation to envelope and absorb materials and includes three subtypes: phagocytosis, pinocytosis, and receptor-mediated endocytosis. Phagocytosis involves the ingestion of materials up to $10 \,\mu\text{m}$ in diameter,¹²³ and can be accomplished by fairly few cell types of the reticuloendothelial system, such as macrophages, neutrophils, and dendritic cells. Pinocytosis is an uptake mechanism that can be conducted by virtually all cell types, and normally involves ingestion of sub-micron material and substances in solution. Larger microparticles provide selective access to phagocytic cells, while smaller nanoparticles provide access to virtually all cell types. This distinct capability of nanoparticles may be utilized for the delivery of therapeutic agents to a wide array of cellular types and targets.

5.2. Cellular phagocytosis/endocytosis

Receptor-mediated endocytosis affords the potential for even greater selectivity in cellular targeting. The cellular membrane is dotted with a myriad of receptors, which upon extracellular binding to their respective ligands (or to nanoparticles whose surface is functionalized with ligands), transduce a signal to the intracellular space. This signal can trigger a multitude of biochemical pathways; however it may also cause internalization of the ligand and its appended nanoparticle via endocytosis. Caveolin- and clathrincoated pits provide an illustration of receptor-mediated endocytosis. Typically, clathrin coats generate a membrane indentation with a radius of curvature as small as approximately 50 nm.¹⁵² and invaginate further upon binding of the ligand. Cross-linking of receptors via ligands attached to nanoparticles results in a more pronounced membrane crater with subsequent enfolding and reunification of the cellular membrane to form an endosome. It has been shown that nanoparticle sizes between 25 and 50 nm are a requisite for optimal endocytosis and intracellular localization.^{153,154,48,155,156} Furthermore, selective active targeting of nano-



Figure 5. Steps detailing the cytosolic delivery of therapeutic agents via nanoparticle carriers. (1) Cellular association of nanoparticles, (2) internalization of nanoparticles via endocytosis, (3) endosomal escape of nanoparticles or (4) lysosomal degradation of nanoparticle, (5) therapeutic agent freely diffuses into cytoplasm, (6) cytoplasmic transport of therapeutic agent to target organelle, (7) exocytosis of nanoparticles.

particles to specific tissues may take advantage of the differential expression of receptors between cellular types. For example, it was recently reported that the attachment of multiple herceptin molecules onto the surface of nanoparticles prompted superior cross-linking of receptors overexpressed on human breast cancer cells such as ErbB2, with variable internalization depending on nanoparticle size.¹⁵⁶

6. Nanoparticle drug delivery for human therapeutics

Nanoparticles have found widespread use in drug delivery, counting more than a dozen FDA-approved variants with indications ranging from cancer to infection (Table 1).

6.1. Neurological cancers (glioblastoma multiforme)

The central nervous system represents a formidable challenge for the delivery of therapeutic agents due to the blood-brain barrier (BBB). This physical barrier limits the brain uptake of the vast majority of neurotherapeutics and neuroimaging contrast agents. The anatomical and cellular morphology of neurovascular capillary endothelial cells, including limited pinocytosis and tight junctions, produces this unique central nervous system manifestation.¹⁷² The brain microvasculature involves four types of cells: endothelial cells, pericytes, astrocyte foot processes, and nerve endings. Endothelial cells share the capillary basement membrane with pericytes that participate in immune surveillance. The other side of this basement membrane is almost entirely surrounded by astrocyte foot processes. Brain capillary endothelial cells are cemented together by tight junctions; this is associated with a 100-fold reduction of pinocytosis across the endothelium (Fig. 6).¹⁷³ Therefore. substances may gain access to the central nervous system by lipid-mediated free diffusion or potentially by receptor-mediated endocytosis of nanoparticles.

Nanotechnology may provide an effective means for circumventing this delivery issue past the BBB. Glioblastoma multiforme (GBM) is among the most devastating and lethal of neoplasms, often claiming the lives of patients within a median of one year following diagnosis. The treatment is multidisciplinary, including radiotherapy, chemotherapy, and surgery.¹⁷⁴ Transport of many chemotherapeutic agents past the BBB has proven difficult. Recently, however, a series of discoveries have been made. In particular, low-density lipoprotein receptors (LDLR) are upregulated on GBM cellular surfaces to between 128,000 and 950,000 receptors per tumor cell.¹⁷⁵ In contrast, average neurons have comparatively lower LDLR numbers, as evidenced by examining normal rat and monkey brain tissue.¹⁷⁶ Thus, targeting LDLR may offer the opportunity for potential therapeutic selectivity in chemotherapeutic drug delivery. Previous studies have investigated the use of low-



Figure 6. Anatomy of the blood-brain barrier (BBB).

density lipoproteins (LDL). Natural LDL particles are roughly 22– 27 nm in diameter with a core of lipids primarily composed of cholesteryl esters with small amounts of triglyceride.¹⁷⁷ Initial studies used plasma-derived LDL as delivery agent to GBM tumors. However, due to the difficulty of isolating natural LDL, reconstituted and synthetic versions have become desirable.¹⁷⁸ Synthetic LDL nanoparticles have been shown to effectively deliver a toxic payload of paclitaxel to GBM tumor cells, and this cytotoxic effect is overturned upon treatment with the LDL receptor inhibitor suramin.¹⁷⁹

6.2. Neurovascular diseases (vascular targeting and stroke)

Vascular diseases, such as atherosclerosis and hypertension, are a primary cause of neurological ischemia (strokes), aneurysm formation, and intracranial hemorrhage. Nanoparticles have been used diagnostically for the detection of atherosclerotic plaques; similar targeting strategies may be used to deliver therapeutic agents to these plaques. Early recognition and intervention may prevent dire neurological and systemic outcomes occurring subsequent to plaque rupture and subsequent thrombosis or embolism, as an example.

The natural course of atherosclerotic plaques is detailed in Figure 7. Atherosclerosis is primarily an inflammatory disease, with accumulating oxidized LDL particles triggering an inflammatory cascade with monocyte recruitment (Fig. 7A). Macrophages ingest these particles and are transformed into foam cells (Fig. 7B and C). The lipid core of the atherosclerotic plaque forms while

Table 1

FDA-approved nanoparticle drug delivery systems (adapted from Kingsley et al.) in clinical trials and/or use.¹⁵⁷

Therapeutic agent (trade name)	Indication	Reference
Liposomal amphotericin B (Ambisome, Ablecet, Amphotec)	Fungal infections, Leishmaniasis	158
PEG-adenosine deaminase (Pegadamase)	Severe combined immunodeficiency disease	159
PEG-stabilized liposomal doxorubicin (Doxil, Evacet)	Kaposi's sarcoma, refractory ovarian cancer	160,161
Liposomal cytosine arabinoside (DepoCyt)	Lymphomatous meningitis, neoplastic meningitis	162,163
Interleukin 2-diptheria toxin fusion protein (Denileikin Diffitox)	Cutaneous T-cell lymphoma	164
Liposomal verteporfin (Visudyne)	Wet macular degeneration	165
PEG-interferon α -2b (Pegasys)	Hepatitis C	166
PEG-granulocyte colony stimulating factor (Neulasta)	Chemotherapy associated neutropenia	167
Protein bound paclitaxel (Abraxane)	Metastatic breast cancer	168
PEG L-asparaginase (Oncaspar)	Acute lymphocytic leukemia	169
PEG aptanib (Macugen)	Wet macular degeneration	53,170
Pemetrexed (Alimta)	Malignant pleural mesothelioma	171



Figure 7. Natural course of atherosclerotic plaques.

smooth muscle cells in the blood vessel lining become activated and migrate inward (Fig. 7C and D). Simultaneously, collagen deposition occurs, strengthening the plaque and containing the subendothelial inflammation (Fig. 7C and D). Macrophages also liberate metalloproteases, elastases, and collagenases which degrade the connective tissue framework (Fig. 7E). Once this occurs, the plaque ruptures and prothrombotic factors, such as tissue factor, are accessible by circulating fibrinogen and platelets. Moreover, fibrinolysis is inhibited by increased production of plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PAI-1). Thus, a pseudo-stable clot forms with resumption of the inflammatory cycle (Fig. 7F). Rupture of an atherosclerotic plaque is a dangerous event-such as those occurring within the internal carotid arteries-with a high chance of embolus formation-this is a primary cause of neurological stroke and functional deficit in patients. Not only is fibrin deposition one of the earliest indicators of plaque rupture or erosion, but it forms a sizeable portion of the growing vascular lesion.¹⁸⁰

Nanoparticle targeted fibrin imaging with ultrasound or paramagnetic magnetic resonance imaging contrast agents was initially demonstrated by the Lanza group more than 10 years ago.^{181,182} In these examples, the targeting ligand consisted of an antibody fragment that was highly selective for cross-linked fibrin. This antibody fragment was conjugated to the nanoparticles via noncovalent avidin-biotin linkages or via direct covalent attachment.^{182–184} As an extension, smooth muscle cells were harvested from porcine aorta and incubated with tissue factor-targeted nanoparticles loaded with paclitaxel. Specific binding of the nanoparticles elicited a substantial reduction in smooth muscle cell proliferation; non-targeted paclitaxel loaded nanoparticle administration resulted in normal proliferation.^{184,185} More recent reports showed that intravenous administration of nanoparticles loaded with the antiangiogenic agent, fumagillin, targeted to $\alpha_V\beta_3$ -integrin epitopes on the vasa vasorum of growing plaques resulted in a clear inhibition of angiogenesis in cholesterol-fed rabbits.¹⁸⁶ Kolodgie et al. utilized taxol-containing albumin nanoparticles to limit the restenotic response subsequent to angioplasty and stent placement in experimental animals.¹⁸⁷

6.3. Neurodegenerative diseases (Alzheimer's disease and chelation)

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is marked by a progressive and irreversible damage to memory, thought, and language. It is extremely prevalent and represents the most common form of dementia in geriatric populations over 65 years of age. Current therapies include acetylcholinesterase inhibitors,^{188,189} cholinesterase inhibitors,¹⁹⁰ antioxidants,^{191,192} amyloid- β -targeted drugs, nerve growth factors,¹⁹³ γ -secretase inhibitors,^{194,195} and vaccines against amyloid- β .¹⁹⁶ Mounting evidence suggests that oxidative stress triggered by various mechanisms may be a primary factor in neurodegeneration in AD.^{191,197,198} Compared with other tissues, the central nervous system may be particularly susceptible

to oxidative stress, especially those catalyzed by transition metals such as iron and copper via Fenton chemistry.^{199,200} In fact, iron metabolism has been shown to be involved in AD, as iron concentrations are elevated in patients with the disease.²⁰¹ Moreover, aluminum has also been found in high concentrations in senile plaques and intraneuronal neurofibrillary tangles within the brain of AD patients.²⁰² Unlike transition metals, aluminum is unable to participate in electron transfer reactions via redox cycling, as it assumes a fixed +3 oxidation state in biological systems. However, aluminum can act in synergy with iron to increase free radical damage.^{202,203}

The promotion of oxidative damage by various metals in neurodegenerative diseases—such as AD—may represent a new target for drug design. In particular, chelation of these metals may reduce the pathophysiological development of AD. Metal chelators. such as desferrioxamine (DFO), have been used clinically.²⁰⁴⁻²⁰⁶ DFO has strong affinities for iron, aluminum, copper, and zinc: the affinity constants for Fe(III), Al(III), Cu(II), and Zn(II) are 30.6, 22.0, 14.1, and 11.1 (log*K*) respectively.²⁰⁷ Unfortunately, DFO exhibits serious toxicity, including neurotoxicity and neurological changes;^{208,209} it is poorly absorbed by the gastrointestinal tract and rapidly degrades following drug administration.²¹⁰ Penetration through the BBB may also be an issue due to DFO's hydrophilic nature, rendering it futile in neurodegenerative disease therapies.²¹¹

Polymeric nanoparticles may represent a potential means to transport drugs across the BBB.²¹²⁻²¹⁴ Nanoparticles may be designed to mimic LDL and interact with the LDL receptor, consequently triggering uptake by brain endothelial cells. Nanoparticles may effectively mask covalently bound chelators, thus facilitating their delivery past the BBB and minimize toxicity while improving the pharmacokinetics of the chelator itself.

Seminal work by Liu et al. demonstrated the bidirectional transport of chelators into and from the brain.²¹⁵⁻²¹⁷ These chelators were synthetically optimized and examined in brain tissue sections from AD patients. The synthetic chelators removed iron from ferritin more efficiently than DFO and were capable of removing iron from the brain tissue sections. Conjugation of these synthetic chelators to nanoparticles was achieved via covalent bonding to amino and carboxyl groups on the nanoparticle surface. To facilitate transport through the BBB via the LDL mechanism, the nanoparticles may be further functionalized with apolipoproteins. While there is much work to be done with these chelation-based nanoparticle systems, they exhibit potential utility for the treatment of AD and other neurodegenerative disorders.

7. Conclusions

Nanotechnology will assume an essential place in drug delivery and human therapeutics. A wide variety of nanoparticles exist already, and diverse methods of synthesis have been developed. The pharmacokinetic parameters of these nanoparticles may be altered according to size, shape, and surface functionalization. Careful design of nanoparticle delivery agents will result in successful localization and drug delivery to specific biological targets coupled with the efficient evasion of the reticuloendothelial system. Moreover, nanoparticles can be used to alter the kinetic profiles of drug release, leading to more sustained release of drugs with a reduced requirement for frequent dosing. Particularly interesting applications of nanoparticles in drug delivery relate to the central nervous system and the cardiovascular system. The blood-brain barrier is a formidable challenge for many therapeutic agents; nanotechnology may breach this barrier and establish a new frontier for neuropharmacologic agents.

Acknowledgments

We are grateful for support from the National Institutes of Health (GM067082), the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (AI33507), and the CMCR program (U19-AI068021). We would also like to acknowledge valuable suggestions of Dr. A. S. Dömling (University of Pittsburgh, Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences) in the preparation of this manuscript.

References and notes

- 1. Panayam, J.; Labhasetwar, V. Curr. Drug Deliv. 2004, 1, 235.
- 2. Attard, G. S.; Bartlett, P. N.; Coleman, N. R. B.; Elliot, J. M.; Owen, J. R.; Wang, J. H. Science 1997, 278, 838.
- Armatas, G. S.; Kanatzidis, M. G. Nature 2006, 441, 1122. 3
- Sun, D.; Riley, A. E.; Cadby, A. J.; Richman, E. K.; Korlann, S. D.; Tolbert, S. H. 4. Nature 2006, 441, 1126.
- Huo, Q. S.; Margolese, D. I.; Ciesla, U.; Feng, P. Y.; Gier, T. E.; Sieger, P.; Leon, R.; Petroff, P. M.; Schuth, F.; Stucky, G. D. Nature 1994, 368, 317.
- Tian, Z. R.; Tong, W.; Wang, J. Y.; Duan, N. G.; Krishnan, V. V.; Suib, S. L. Science 6. 1997, 276, 926.
- Sun, T.; Ying, J. Y. Nature 1997, 289, 704. 7.
- Yang, P. D.; Zhao, D. Y.; Margolese, D. I.; Chmelka, B. F.; Stucky, G. D. Nature 8. 1998, 396, 152.
- Tian, B. Z.; Liu, X. Y.; Tu, B.; Yu, C. Z.; Fan, J.; Wang, L. M.; Xie, S. H.; Stucky, G. 9 D.; Zhao, D. Y. Nat. Mater. **2003**, *2*, 159.
- 10 Grosso D Boissiere C Smarsly B Brezesinski T Pinna N Albouy P A Amenitsch, H.; Antonietti, M.; Sanchez, C. Nat. Mater. 2004, 3, 787.
- 11. Corma, A.; Atienzar, P.; Garcia, H.; Chane-Ching, J. Y. Nat. Mater. 2004, 3, 394. Zou, X. D.; Conradsson, T.; Klingstedt, M.; Dadachov, M. S.; O' Keeffe, M. Nature 12.
- 2005, 437, 716.
- Braun, P. V.; Osenar, P.; Stupp, S. I. Nature **1996**, 380, 325.
 MacLachlan, M. J.; Coombs, N.; Ozin, G. A. Nature **1999**, 397, 681.
 Titulitia D. N. Baragar, K. K. Balagar, T. Kanatridia, M. C. Nature
- Trikalitis, P. N.; Rangan, K. K.; Bakas, T.; Kanatzidis, M. G. Nature 2001, 410, 15. 671
- 16. Roy, I.; Mitra, S.; Maitra, A.; Mozumdar, S. Int. J. Pharm. 2003, 250, 25.
- 17. Schmidt, H. T.; Ostafin, A. E. Adv. Mater. 2002, 14, 532.
- Beck, J. S.; Vartuli, J. C.; Roth, W. J.; Leonowicz, M. E.; Kresge, C. T.; Schmitt, K. 18. D.; Chu, C. T. W.; Olson, D. H.; Sheppard, E. W.; McCullen, S. B.; Higgins, J. B.; Schlenker, J. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 10834.
- 19. Vallet-Regi, M.; Ramila, A.; del Real, R. P.; Perez-Pariente, J. Chem. Mater. 2001, 13.308.
- 20. Botterhuis, N. E.; Sun, Q.; Magusin, P. C.; van Santen, R. A.; Sommerdijk, N. A. Chem. Eur. J. 2006, 12, 1448.
- 21. Lai, C. Y.; Trewyn, B. G.; Jeftinija, K.; Xu, S.; Jeftinija, S.; Lin, V. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003. 125. 4451.
- 22. Radu, D. R.; Lai, C. Y.; Jeftinija, K.; Rowe, E. W.; Jeftinija, S.; Lin, V. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 13216.
- 23. Giri, S.; Trewyn, B. G.; Stellmaker, M. P.; Lin, V. S. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2005, 44. 5038.
- 24. Alayautdin, R. N.; Petrov, V. E.; Langer, K.; Berthold, A.; Kharkevich, D. A.; Kreuter, J. Pharm. Res. 1997, 14, 325.
- 25. Alyautdin, R. N.; Reichel, A.; Lobenberg, R.; Ramge, P.; Kreuter, J.; Begley, D. J. J. Drug Target. 2001, 9, 209.
- 26. Kreuter, J.; Ramge, P.; Petrov, V. E.; Hamm, S.; Gelperina, S. E.; Engelhardt, B.; Alyautdin, R. N.; von Briesen, H.; Begley, D. J. Pharm. Res. 2003, 20, 409.
- 27. Calvo, P.; Gouritin, B.; Chacun, H.; Desmaele, D.; D'Angelo, J.; Noel, J. P.; Georgin, D.; Fattal, E.; Andreux, J. P.; Couvreur, P. Pharm. Res. 2001, 18, 1157.
- 28 Calvo, P.; Gouritin, B.; Villarroya, H.; Eclancher, F.; Giannavola, C.; Klein, C.; Andreux, J. P.; Couvreur, P. Eur. J. Neurosci. 2002, 15, 1317.
- Panyam, J.; Labhasetwar, V. Mol. Pharmacol. 2004, 1, 77 29
- 30. Prabha, S.; Labhasetwar, V. Mol. Pharmacol. 2004, 1, 211.
- 31. Prabha, S.; Labhasetwar, V. Pharm. Res. 2004, 21, 354.
- Murakami, H.; Kobayashi, M.; Takeuchi, H.; Kawashima, Y. Int. J. Pharm. 1999, 32. 187, 143.
- 33. Müller, R. H.; Mehnert, W.; Lucks, J. S.; Schwarz, C.; zur Mühlen, A.; Weyhers, H.; Freitas, C.; Rühl, D. Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 1995, 41, 62.
- 34. Müller, R. H.; Mäder, K.; Gohla, S. Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 2000, 50, 161.
- Siekmann, B.; Westesen, K. Pharm. Pharmacol. Lett. 1992, 1, 123. 35.
- Müller, R. H.; Lucks, J. S. European Patent No. 0605497, 1996. 36.
- Gasco, M. R. U.S. Patent 5,250,236, 1993. 37.
- 38. Müller, R. H.; Radtke, M.; Wissing, S. A. Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 2002, 54S1, S131.
- Papahadjopoulos, D. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 1978, 308, 1. 39.
- Ryman, B. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 1978, 308, 300. 40.
- 41. Lasic, D. D.; Frederik, P. M.; Stuart, M. C. A.; Barenholz, Y.; McIntosh, T. J. FEBS Lett. 1992, 312, 255.
- 42. Bangham, A. D. BioEssays 1995, 17, 1081.
- Chan, W. C.; Nie, S. Science 1998, 281, 2016. 43.
- Dabboussi, B. O.; Rodriguez-Viejo, J.; Mikulec, F. V.; Hein, J. R.; Mattoussi, H.; 44. Ober, R.; Jensen, K. F.; Bawendi, M. G. J. Phys. Chem. 1997, 101, 9463.
- 45. Dubertret, B.; Skourides, P.; Norris, D. J.; Noireaux, V.; Brivanlou, A. H.; Libchaber, A. Science 2002, 298, 1759.

- Gao, X.; Cui, Y.; Levenson, R. M.; Chung, L. W. K.; Nie, S. Nat. Biotechnol. 2004, 22, 969.
- Rosenthal, S. J.; Tomlinson, I.; Adkins, E. M.; Schroeter, S.; Adams, S.; Swafford, L.; McBride, J.; Wang, Y.; DeFlice, L. J.; Blakely, R. D. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2002**, *124*, 4586.
- Osaki, F.; Kanamori, T.; Sando, S.; Sera, T.; Aoyama, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 6520.
- Shibahara, A.; Hoshino, A.; Hanaki, K.; Suzuki, K.; Yamamoto, K. Microbiol. Immunol. 2004, 48, 669.
- Kagan, V. E.; Tyurina, Y. Y.; Tyurin, V. A.; Konduru, N. V.; Potapovich, A. I.; Osipov, A. N.; Kisin, E. R.; Schwegler-Berry, D.; Mercer, R.; Castranova, V.; Shvedova, A. A. *Toxicol. Lett.* **2006**, *165*, 88.
- Porter, A. E.; Gass, M.; Muller, K.; Skepper, J. N.; Midgley, P. A.; Welland, M. Nat. Nanotechnol. 2007, 2, 713.
- Manna, S. K.; Sarkar, S.; Barr, J.; Wise, K.; Barrera, E. V.; Jejelowo, O.; Rice-Ficht, A. C.; Ramesh, G. T. *Nano. Lett.* **2005**, *5*, 1676.
- Lee, C. C.; MacKay, J. A.; Frechet, J. M.; Szoka, F. C. Nat. Biotechnol. 2005, 23, 1517.
- 54. Tang, M. X.; Redemann, C. T.; Szoka, F. C. Bioconjugate Chem. 1996, 7, 703.
- 55. Frens, G. Nature 1973, 241, 20.
- 56. Ullman, A. Chem. Rev. 1996, 96, 1533.
- 57. Petit, C.; Lixon, P.; Pileni, J. J. Phys. Chem. B 1993, 97, 12974.
- 58. Suslick, K. S.; Fang, M.; Hyeon, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 11960.
- 59. Faraday, M. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. London 1857, 147, 145.
- Brust, M.; Walker, M.; Bethell, D.; Schiffrin, D. J.; Whyman, R. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1994, 801.
- Fabris, L.; Antonello, S.; Armelao, L.; Donkers, R. L.; Polo, F.; Toniolo, C.; Maran, F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 326.
- 62. Higashi, N.; Kawahara, J.; Niwa, M. J. Colloid Interface Sci. 2005, 288, 83.
- Elghanian, R.; Storhoff, J. J.; Mucic, R. C.; Letsinger, R. L.; Mirkin, C. A. Science 1997, 277, 1078.
- 64. lijima, S. Nature 1991, 354, 56.
- Jose-Yacaman, M.; Miki-Yoshida, M.; Rendon, L.; Santiesteban, T. G. Appl. Phys. Lett. 1993, 62, 202.
- Hernadi, K.; Fonseca, A.; Nagy, J. B.; Bernaerts, D.; Riga, J.; Lucas, A. Synth. Met. 1996, 77, 31.
- Ivanov, V.; Nagy, J. B.; Lambin, Ph.; Lucas, A.; Zhang, X. B.; Zhang, X. F.; Bernaerts, D.; Van Tendeloo, G.; Amelinckx, S.; Van Lunduyt, J. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1994, 223, 329.
- 68. Rodriguez, N. M. J. Mater. Res. 1993, 8, 3233.
- 69. Sen, R.; Govindaraj, A.; Rao, C. N. R. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1997, 267, 276.
- Rao, C. N. R.; Govindaraj, A.; Sen, R.; Satishkumar, B. C. Mater. Res. Innovations 1998, 2, 128.
- 71. Satishkumar, B. C.; Govindaraj, A.; Sen, R.; Rao, C. N. R. Chem. Phys. Lett. **1998**, 293, 47.
- 72. Rao, C. N. R.; Govindaraj, A. Acc. Chem. Res. 2002, 35, 998.
- Choy, J. H.; Kwak, S. Y.; Jeong, Y. J.; Park, J. S. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 4042.
- 74. Choy, J. H.; Kwak, S. Y.; Park, J. S.; Jeong, Y. J. J. Mater. Chem. 2001, 11, 1671.
- 75. Cavani, F.; Trifirò, F.; Vaccari, A. Catal. Today 1991, 11, 173.
- 76. Meyn, M.; Beneke, K.; Lagaly, G. Inorg. Chem. **1993**, 32, 1209.
- 77. Constantino, V. R. L.; Pinnavaia, T. J. Inorg. Chem. 1995, 34, 883.
- 78. Zhao, Y.; Li, F.; Zhang, R.; Evans, D. G.; Duan, X. Chem. Mater. **2002**, 14, 4286.
- 79. Xu, Z. P.; Stevenson, G.; Lu, C.-Q.; Lu, G. Q. J. Phys. Chem. B **2006**, 110, 16923.
- Gobe, M.; Kon-no, K.; Kandori, K.; Kitahara, K. J. Colloid Interface Sci. 1983, 93, 293.
- 81. López-Quintela, M. A.; Rivas, J. J. Colloid Interface Sci. 1993, 158, 446.
- López-Pérez, J. A.; López-Quintela, M. A.; Mira, J.; Rivas, J.; Cherles, S. W. J. Phys. Chem. B 1997, 101, 8045.
- 83. Blakemore, R. P. Science 1975, 190, 377.
- 84. Sakaguchi, T.; Burgess, J. G.; Matsunaga, T. Nature 1993, 365, 47.
- 85. Matsunaga, T.; Takeyama, H. Supramol. Sci. 1998, 5, 391.
- Cao, X.; Prozorov, R.; Koltypin, Y.; Kataby, G.; Felner, I.; Gedanken, A. J. Mater. Res. 1997, 12, 402.
- 87. Shafi, K. V. P. M.; Ulman, A.; Yan, X.; Yang, N. L.; Estournes, C.; White, H.; Rafailovich, M. *Langmuir* **2001**, *17*, 5093.
- Rockenberger, J.; Scher, E. C.; Alivisatos, A. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 11595.
- 89. Sun, S.; Zeng, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 8204.
- Hyeon, T.; Lee, S. S.; Park, J.; Chung, Y.; Na, H. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 12798.
- (a) lida, H.; Nakanishi, T.; Osaka, T. *Electrochim. Acta* **2005**, *51*, 855; (b) Xie, J.; Chen, K.; Lee, H.-Y.; Xu, C.; Hsu, A. R.; Peng, S.; Chen, X.; Sun, S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2008**, *130*, 7542.
- 92. Harai, T.; Hodono, M.; Komasava, I. Langmuir 2000, 16, 955.
- 93. Tadic, D.; Epple, M. Biomaterials 2004, 25, 987.
- 94. Lim, G. K.; Wang, J.; Ng, S. C.; Gan, L. M. Langmuir 1999, 15, 7472.
- 95. Xu, Y.; Wang, D.; Yang, L.; Tang, H. Mater. Charact. 2001, 47, 83.
- 96. Yadav, K. L.; Brown, P. W. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. A 2003, 65A, 158.
- Lim, G. K.; Wang, J.; Ng, S. C.; Chew, C. H.; Gan, L. M. Biomaterials 1997, 18, 1433.
- 98. Fendler, J. H. Chem. Rev. 1987, 87, 877.
- Singh, S.; Bhardwaj, P.; Singh, V.; Aggarwal, S.; Mandal, U. K. J. Colloid Interface Sci. 2008, 319, 322.
- 100. Boskey, A. L.; Posner, A. S. J. Phys. Chem. 1973, 77, 2313.
- 101. Baronne, J. P.; Nancollas, G. H. J. Colloid Interface Sci. 1977, 62, 421.

- 102. Stoeber, W.; Fink, A.; Bohn, E. J. Colloid Interface Sci. 1968, 26, 62.
- 103. Shin, J. H.; Metzger, S. K.; Schoenfisch, M. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 4612. 104. Huh, S.; Wiench, J. W.; Yoo, J.-C.; Pruski, M.; Lin, V. S.-Y. Chem. Mater. 2003, 15,

2961

- 4247.
- 105. Vallet-Regí, M.; Balas, F.; Arcos, D. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2007, 46, 7548.
- 106. Bagwe, R. P.; Yang, C.; Hilliard, L. R.; Tan, W. Langmuir 2004, 20, 8336.
- Krätschmer, W.; Lamb, L. D.; Fostiropoulos, K.; Huffman, D. R. Nature 1990, 347, 354.
- 108. Alekseyev, G. A.; Dyuzhev, G. A. Carbon 2003, 41, 1343.
- Howard, J. B.; McKinnon, J. T.; Makarovsky, Y.; Lafleur, A. L.; Johnson, M. E. Nature **1991**, 352, 139.
- 110. Goel, A.; Howard, J. B. Carbon 2003, 41, 1949.
- 111. Boorum, M. M.; Vasil'ev, Y. V.; Drewello, T.; Scott, L. T. Science 2001, 294, 828.
- 112. Scott, L. T.; Boorum, M. M.; McMahon, B. J.; Hagen, S.; Mack, J.; Blank, J.; Wegner, H.; de Meijere, A. *Science* **2002**, *295*, 1500.
- 113. Scott, L. T. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2004, 43, 4994.
- 114. Raab, R. M.; Stephanopoulos, G. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 2004, 88, 121.
- 115. Manna, L.; Scher, E. C.; Li, L. S.; Alivisatos, A. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 7136.
- 116. Hines, M. A.; Guyot-Sionnest, P. J. Phys. Chem. 1996, 100, 468.
- 117. Jamieson, T.; Bakhshi, R.; Petrova, D.; Pocock, R.; Imani, M.; Seifalian, A. M. Biomaterials 2007, 28, 4717.
- 118. Winter, P. M.; Caruthers, S. D.; Kassner, A.; Harris, T. D.; Chinen, L. K.; Allen, J. S.; Lacy, E. K.; Zhang, H. Y.; Robertson, J. D.; Wickline, S. A. *Cancer Res.* **2003**, 63, 5838.
- 119. Moghimi, S. M.; Bonnemain, B. Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 1999, 37, 295.
- 120. Moghimi, S. M.; Hunter, A. C.; Murray, J. C. Pharmacol. Rev. 2003, 53, 283.
- 121. Moghimi, S. M. FEBS Lett. 2003, 540, 241.
- 122. Harris, J. M.; Martin, N. E.; Modi, M. Clin. Pharmacokinet. 2001, 40, 539.
- 123. Kohane, D. S. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 2007, 96, 203.
- 124. Matsumura, Y.; Maeda, H. Cancer Res. 1986, 46, 6387.
- 125. Longmuir, K. J.; Robertson, R. T.; Haynes, S. M.; Baratta, J. L.; Waring, A. J. *Pharm. Res.* **2006**, 23, 759.
- 126. Spragg, D. D.; Alford, D. R.; Greferath, R.; Larsen, C. E.; Lee, K. D.; Gurtner, G. C.; Cybulsky, M. I.; Tosi, P. F.; Nicolau, C.; Gimbrone, M. A. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **1997**, 94, 8795.
- 127. Farokhzad, O. C.; Karp, J. M.; Langer, R. Exp. Opin. Drug Deliv. 2006, 3, 311.
- 128. Kohane, D. S.; Lipp, M.; McKinney, R. C.; Anthony, D. C.; Louis, D. N.; Lotan, N.; Langer, R. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. 2002, 59, 450.
- 129. Kohane, D. S.; Tse, J. Y.; Yeo, Y.; Padera, R.; Shubina, M.; Langer, R. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. 2006, 77, 351.
- 130. Moghimi, S. M.; Szebeni, J. Prog. Lipid Res. 2003, 42, 463.
- Cherukuri, P.; Bachilo, S. M.; Litovsky, S. H.; Weisman, R. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 15638.
- Singh, R.; Pantarotto, D.; Lacerdo, L.; Pastorin, G.; Klumpp, C.; Prato, M.; Biano, A.; Kostarelos, K. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 2006, 103, 3357.
- 133. Moghimi, S. M.; Hunter, A. C.; Murray, J. C. FASEB 2005, 19, 311.
- 134. Emerich, D. F.; Thanos, C. G. J. Drug Target. 2007, 15, 163.
- Kohane, D. S.; Plesnila, N.; Thomas, S. S.; Le, D.; Langer, R.; Moskowitz, M. A. Brain Res. 2002, 946, 206.
- 136. Gwinn, M. R.; Vallyathan, V. Environ. Health Perspect. 2006, 114, 1818.
- 137. Dockery, D. W.; Pope, C. A., III; Xu, X.; Spengler, J. D.; Ware, J. H.; Fay, M. E.; Ferris, B. G.; Speizer, F. E. N. Engl. J. Med. **1993**, 329, 1753.
- 138. Pope, C. A., Ill; Burnett, R. T.; Thurston, G. D.; Thun, M. J.; Calle, E. E.; Krewski, D.; Godleski, I. J. Circulation 2004, 109, 71.
- 139. Peters, A.; Doring, A.; Wichmann, H. E.; Koenig, W. Lancet 1997, 349, 1582.
- Dockery, D. W.; Luttmann-Gibson, H.; Rich, D. Q.; Link, M. S.; Mittleman, M. A.; Gold, D. R.; Koutrakis, P.; Schwartz, J. D.; Verrier, R. L. Environ. Health Perspect. 2005, 113, 670.
- De Lorenzo, A. J. D. In *Taste and Smell in Vertebrates*; Wolstenholme, G. E. W., Knight, J., Eds.; CIBA Foundation Symposium Series; J&A Churchill: London, 1970; pp 151–176.
- 142. (a) Hoye, A. T.; Davoren, J. E.; Wipf, P.; Fink, M. P.; Kagan, V. E. Acc. Chem. Res. 2008, 41, 87; (b) Oberdörster, G.; Sharp, Z.; Atudorei, V.; Elder, A.; Gelein, R.; Kreyling, W.; Cox, C. Inhal. Toxicol. 2004, 16, 437.
- 143. Calderon-Garciduenas, L.; Azzarelli, B.; Acune, H.; Garcia, R.; Gambling, T. M.; Osnaya, N.; Monroy, S.; Tizapantzi, M. D. R.; Carson, J. L.; Villarreal-Calderon, A.; Rewcastle, B. *Toxicol. Pathol.* **2002**, *30*, 373.

Roberts, E. S.; Richards, J. H.; Jaskot, R.; Dreher, K. L. Inhal. Toxicol. 2003, 15,

Delfino, R. J.; Sioutas, C.; Malik, S. Environ. Health Perspect. 2005, 113,

Sun, Q.; Wang, A.; Jin, X.; Natanzon, A.; Duquaine, D.; Brook, R. D.; Aguinaldo,

J. G.; Fayad, Z. A.; Fuster, V.; Lippmann, M.; Chen, L. C.; Rajagopalan, S. JAMA

Brown, D. M.; Wilson, M. R.; MacNee, W.; Stone, V.; Donaldson, K. Toxicol.

Shvedova, A. A.; Kisin, E. R.; Mercer, R.; Murray, A. R.; Johnson, V. J.;

Potapovich, A. I.; Tyurina, Y. Y.; Gorelik, O.; Arepalli, S.; Schwegler-Berry, D.;

Hubbs, A. F.; Antonini, J.; Evans, D. E.; Ku, B.; Ramsey, D.; Maynard, A.; Kagan,

V. E.; Castranova, V.; Baron, P. Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol. 2005, 289,

149. Dick, C. A.; Brown, D. M.; Donaldson, K.; Stone, V. Inhal. Toxicol. 2003, 15, 39.

150. Lam, C. W.; James, J. T.; McCluskey, R.; Hunter, R. L. Toxicol. Sci. 2004, 77, 126.

152. Gao, H.; Shi, W.; Freund, L. B. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 2005, 102, 9469.

144. Seaton, A.; MacNee, W.; Donaldson, K.; Godden, D. Lancet 1995, 345, 176.

145.

146

147

148.

151.

1327.

934.

L698

2005, 294, 3003.

Appl. Pharmacol. 2001, 175, 191.

- 153. Aoyama, Y.; Kanamori, T.; Nakai, T.; Sasaki, T.; Horiuchi, S.; Sando, S.; Niidome, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 3455.
- Nakai, T.; Kanamori, T.; Sando, S.; Aoyama, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 154. 8465
- 155. Chithrani, B. D.; Ghazani, A. A.; Chan, W. C. W. Nano Lett. 2006, 6, 662.
- Jiang, W.; Kim, B. Y. S.; Rutka, J. T.; Chan, W. C. W. Nat. Nanotechnol. 2008, 3, 145. 156.
- 157. Kingsley, J. D.; Dou, H.; Morehead, J.; Rabinow, B.; Gendelman, H. E.; Destache, C. J. J. Neuroimmune Pharmacol. 2006, 1, 340. 158
- Alder-Moore, J. Bone Marrow Transplant 1994, 14, S3.
- Bory, C.; Boulieu, R.; Souillet, G.; Chantin, C.; Guibaud, P.; Hershfield, M. S. 159. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 1991, 309A, 173.
- 160. Muggia, F.; Hamilton, A. Eur. J. Cancer 2001, 37, S15.
- 161. Northfelt, D. W.; Martin, F. J.; Working, P.; Volberding, P. A.; Russell, J.; Newman, M.; Amantea, M. A.; Kaplan, L. D. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 1996, 36, 55
- 162. Glantz, M. J.; Jaeckle, K. A.; Chamberlain, M. C.; Phuphanich, S.; Recht, L.; Swinnen, L. J.; Maria, B. L.; LaFollette, S.; Schumann, G. B.; Cole, B. F.; Howell, S. B. Clin. Cancer Res. 1999, 5, 3394.
- 163. Glantz, M. J.; LaFollette, S.; Jaeckle, K. A.; Shapiro, W.; Swinnen, L.; Rozental, J. R.; Phuphanich, S.; Rogers, L. R.; Gutheil, J. C.; Batchelor, T.; Lyter, D.; Chamberlain, M.; Maria, B. L.; Schiffer, C.; Bashir, R.; Thomas, D.; Cowens, W.; Howell, S. B. J. Clin. Oncol. 1999, 17, 3110.
- 164. Olsen, E.; Duvic, M.; Frankel, A.; Kim, Y.; Martin, A.; Vonerheid, E.; Jegasothy, B.; Wood, G.; Heald, P.; Oseroff, A.; Pinter-Brown, L.; Bowen, G.; Kuzel, T.; Fivenson, D.; Foss, F.; Glode, M.; Molina, A.; Knobler, E.; Stewart, S.; Cooper, K.; Stevens, S.; Craig, F.; Reuben, J.; Bacha, P.; Nichols, J. J. Clin. Oncol. 2001, 19, 376.
- Bressler, N. M. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 2001, 131, 541. 165
- 166. Glue, P.; Pouzier-Panis, R.; Raffenel, C.; Sabo, R.; Gupta, S. K.; Salfi, M.; Jacobs, S.; Clement, R. P. Hepatology 2000, 32, 647.
- 167. Siena, S.; Piccart, M. J.; Holmes, F. A.; Glaspy, J.; Hackett, J.; Renwick, J. J. Oncol. Rep. 2003, 10, 715.
- 168. Nyman, D. W.; Campbell, K. J.; Hersh, E.; Long, K.; Richardson, K.; Trieu, V.; Desai, N.; Hawkins, M. J.; Von Hoff, D. D. J. Clin. Oncol. 2005, 23, 7785.
- 169. Rosen, O.; Muller, H. J.; Gokbuget, N.; Langer, W.; Peter, N.; Schwartz, S.; Hahling, D.; Hartmann, F.; Ittel, T. H.; Muck, R.; Rothmann, F.; Arnold, R.; Boos, J.; Hoelzer, D. Br. J. Haematol. 2003, 123, 836.
- 170. Lee, J. H.; Canny, M. D.; Erkenez, A.; Krilleke, D.; Ng, Y. S.; Shima, D. T.; Pardi, A.; Jucker, F. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 2005, 102, 18902.
- 171. Ceresoli, G. L.; Zucali, P. A.; Favaretto, A. G.; Grossi, F.; Bidoli, P.; el Conte, G.; Ceribelli, A.; Bearz, A.; Morenghi, E.; Cavina, R.; Marangolo, M.; Parra, H. J.; Santoro, A. J. Clin. Oncol. 2006, 24, 1443.
- 172. Brightman, M. W. Exp. Eye Res. 1977, 25, 1-25.
- 173. Pardridge, W. M. Nature Rev. 2002, 1, 131.
- 174. Brain Tumors: An Encyclopedic Approach; Kaye, A. H., Laws, E. R., Eds.; Churchill Livingstone: London; New York, 2001.
- 175. Maletinska, L.; Blakely, E. A.; Bjornstad, K. A.; Deen, D. F.; Knoff, L. J.; Forte, T. M. Cancer Res. 2000, 60, 2300.
- 176. Pitas, R. E.; Boyles, J. K.; Lee, S. H.; Hui, D.; Weisgraber, K. H. J. Biol. Chem. 1987, 262, 14352.
- 177. Firestone, R. A. Bioconjugate Chem. 1994, 5, 105.
- Rensen, P. C.; de Vrueh, R. L.; Kuiper, J.; Bijsterbosch, M. K.; Biessen, E. A. L.; 178. van Berkel, T. J. C. Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 2001, 47, 251.
- Nikanjam, M.; Gibbs, A. R.; Hunt, C. A.; Budinger, T. F.; Forte, T. M. J. Controlled 179. Release 2007, 124, 163.
- Constantinides, P. J. Atheroscler. Res. 1966, 6, 1-17. 180
- Lanza, G.; Wickline, S. Prog. Cardiovasc. Dis. 2001, 44, 13. 181.
- Lanza, G. M.; Wallace, K. D.; Scott, M. J.; Cacheris, W. P.; Abendschein, D. R.; 182. Christy, D. H.; Sharkey, A. M.; Miller, J. G.; Gaffney, P. J.; Wickline, S. A. Circulation 1996, 94, 3334.

- 183. Lanza, G. M.; Abendschein, D. R.; Hall, C. S.; Scott, M. J.; Scherrer, D. E.; Houseman, A.; Miller, J. G.; Wickline, S. A. J. Am. Soc. Echocardiogr. 2000, 13, 608
- 184. Lanza, G. M.; Yu, X.; Winter, P. M.; Abendschein, D. R.; Karukstis, K. K.; Scott, M. J.; Chinen, L. K.; Fuhrhop, R. W.; Scherrer, D. E.; Wickline, S. A. Circulation 2002. 106. 2842.
- 185. Lanza, G. M.; Winter, P.; Caruthers, S.; Schmeider, A.; Crowder, K.; Morawski, A.; Zhang, H.; Scott, M. J.; Wickline, S. A. Curr. Pharm. Biotechnol. 2004, 5, 495.
- Winter, P. M.; Morawski, A. M.; Caruthers, S. D.; Harris, T. D.; Fuhrhop, R. W.; 186. Zhang, H.; Allen, J. S.; Lacy, E. K.; Williams, T. A.; Wickline, S. A.; Lanza, G. M. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 2004, 43, A322.
- 187. Kolodgie, F. D.; John, M.; Khurana, C.; Farb, A.; Wilson, P. S.; Acampado, E.; Desai, N.; Soon-Shiong, P.; Virmani, R. Circulation 2002, 106, 1195.
- 188. Coyle, J.; Kershaw, P. Biol. Psychiatry 2001, 49, 289.
- 189. Farlow, M. R. Clin. Ther. 2001, 23, A13.
- 190. Marder, K. Curr. Neurol. Neurosci. Rep. 2004, 4, 349.
- 191. Prasad, K. N.; Hovland, A. R.; Cole, W. C.; Prasad, K. C.; Nahreini, P.; Edwards-Prasad, J.; Andreatta, C. P. Clin. Neuropharmacol. 2000, 23, 2.
- Zandi, P. P.; Anthony, J. C.; Khachaturian, A. S.; Stone, S. V.; Gustafson, D.; 192. Tschanz, J. T.; Norton, M. C.; Welsh-Bohmer, K. A.; Breitner, J. C. Arch. Neurol. 2004, 61, 82.
- 193. National Institute on Aging/National Institutes of Health, Progress Report on Alzheimer's Disease, 2000, (http://www.alzheimers.org/prog00.htm). 194. Selkoe, D. J. Physiol. Rev. 2001, 81, 741.
- 195. Cai, H.; Wang, Y.; McCarthy, D.; Wen, H.; Borchelt, D. R.; Price, D. L.; Wong, P. C. Nat. Neurosci. 2001, 4, 233.
- 196. Nash, J. M. Time 2001, 157, 85.
- 197. Perry, G.; Castellani, R. J.; Hirai, K.; Smith, M. A. J. Alzheimer's Dis. 1998, 1, 45.
- Casadesus, G.; Smith, M. A.; Zhu, X.; Aliev, G.; Cash, A. D.; Honda, K.; Petersen, 198. R. B.; Perry, G. J. Alzheimer's Dis. 2004, 6, 165.
- 199. Gutteridge, J. M. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 1994, 738, 201.
- 200. Olanow, C. W. Ann. Neurol. 1992, 32, S2.
- Kennard, M. L.; Feldman, H.; Yamada, T.; Jefferies, W. A. Nat. Med. 1996, 2, 201. 1230
- 202. Kong, S.; Liochev, S.; Fridovich, I. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 1992, 12, 79.
- 203. Bondy, S. C.; Guo-Ross, S. X.; Truong, A. T. Brain Res. 1998, 799, 91.
- Cuajungco, M. P.; Faget, K. Y.; Huang, X.; Tanzi, R. E.; Bush, A. I. Ann. N.Y. Acad. 204. Sci. 2000, 920, 292.
- 205. Richardson, D. R.; Ponka, P. Am. J. Hematol. 1998, 58, 299.
- 206. Keberle, H. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 1964, 119, 758.
- 207. Hider, R. C.; Hall, A. D. Prog. Med. Chem. 1991, 28, 41.
- 208. Blake, D. R.; Winyard, P.; Lunec, J.; Williams, A.; Good, P. A.; Crewes, S. J.; Gutteridge, J. M.; Rowley, D.; Halliwell, B.; Cornish, A.; Hider, R. C. Q. J. Med. **1985**, *56*, 345.
- 209. Kruck, T. P.; Fisher, E. A.; McLachlan, D. R. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther. 1993, 53, 30.
- 210. May, P. M.; Bulman, R. A. Prog. Med. Chem. 1983, 20, 225.
- 211. Lynch, S. G.; Fonseca, T.; Levine, S. M. Cell. Mol. Biol. 2000, 46, 865.
- 212. Kreuter, J. Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 2001, 47, 65.
- 213. Kreuter, J.; Shamenkov, D.; Petrov, V.; Ramge, P.; Cychutek, K.; Koch-Brandt, C.; Alyautdin, R. J. Drug Target. 2002, 10, 317.
- 214. Schroeder, U.; Sommerfeld, P.; Ulrich, S.; Sabel, B. A. J. Pharm. Sci. 1998, 87, 1305.
- 215. Liu, G.; Bruenger, F. W.; Miller, S. C.; Arif, A. M. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1998, 8, 3077.
- 216. Liu, G.; Men, P.; Kenner, G. H.; Miller, S. C.; Bruenger, F. W. Nucleosides Nucleotides Nucleic Acids 2004, 23, 599.
- 217. Liu, G.; Miller, S. C.; Bruenger, F. W. Synth. Commun. 1995, 25, 3247.